RECEIVED

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

DEC 09 2015

In the Court of Appeals

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Shirley C. Robinson, Administrative Law Judge

Appellant Case No. 2015-000602

Dan Abel and Mary Abel,

Appellants,

vs.

South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control and
Pawleys Island Community Church,

Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Amy E. Armstrong

Jessie A. White

SOUTH CAROLINA ENVIRONMENTAL LAW
PROJECT

Mailing address: Post Office Box 1380
Pawleys Island, SC 29585

Office address: 430 Highmarket Street
Georgetown, SC 29440

Telephone (843) 527-0078

FAX (843) 527-0540

Attorneys for the Appellants

Georgetown, SC

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Whether the Administrative Law Judge Erred in Interpretation of the Consent Order by Disregarding its Clear and Unambiguous Language Restricting Land-Disturbing Activity on the Church Property and Protecting Onsite Wetlands and by Imposing a Temporal Limitation on its Force and Effect, Despite the Lack of any such Limiting Language?**
- II. Whether the Administrative Law Judge Erred in Concluding that the Valid and Enforceable Consent Order, Which Requires that the Wetlands on the Church Property Shall Remain Preserved in their Natural State, is Inapplicable to and Unenforceable Against the Land-Disturbing Activity Authorized under the 2014 Permit and Certification, Which Involves Impacts to those Protected Wetlands?**
- III. Whether the Administrative Law Judge Erred in Failing to Enforce the Consent Order, Which Requires that the Wetlands on the Church Property Shall Remain Preserved in their Natural State, as a Final Order of its Own Court Against the Land-Disturbing Activity Authorized under the 2014 Permit and Certification, Which Involves Impacts to those Protected Wetlands?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter arises from a request for contested case that was filed in the Administrative Law Court by Dan and Mary Abel¹ (“Abels”) pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-600(A) and S.C. Code Ann. § 44-1-60 challenging a stormwater permit (SCR10Q459) and coastal zone consistency certification (CZC-12-0149) (collectively the “2014 Permit and Certification”) issued by the Department of Health and Environmental Control (“DHEC” or “Department”) to the Pawleys Island Community Church (“Church”) for land-disturbing activity associated with a redevelopment project on its property. The case was assigned to Administrative Law Judge Shirley C. Robinson and given Docket Number 14-ALC-07-0282-CC.

The Abels challenged the 2014 Permit and Certification as inconsistent with the terms of the Consent Order of Settlement and Dismissal (“Consent Order”) issued by Administrative Law Judge C. Dukes Scott on January 8, 2001 to which the Abels, the Department, and the Church are all parties.² The 2014 Permit and Certification were issued on April 1, 2014. On April 16, 2014, the Abels filed a request for a Final Review Conference with the DHEC Board, which was declined. On June 13, 2014, the Abels filed their request for a contested case hearing before the Administrative Law Court.

The parties consented to a scheduling order for limited discovery and the filing of dispositive motions, which was issued by Judge Robinson on September 3, 2014. On

¹ On October 29, 2014, the Administrative Law Court granted William Mashburn’s request to withdraw as one of the parties to the contested case.

²

David F. Mims is also a party to the Consent Order.

November 25, 2014, the Abels filed a Motion to Enforce the Consent Order and to Consolidate the case with the action under Docket Number 14-ALC-07-0282-CC, which gave rise to the Consent Order. On December 12, 2014, the Church and the Department filed a joint Motion to Dismiss. On December 15, 2014, the Abels filed a Motion for Summary Judgment.

On February 4, 2015 a hearing was held on all motions. On February 12, 2015, Judge Robinson issued the Order Granting Motion to Dismiss and Denying Motion to Consolidate, Motion to Enforce, and Motion for Summary Judgment (“Order Granting Dismissal”), from which the Abels now appeal. The Notice of Appeal was filed on March 16, 2015.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The court may reverse or modify the decision if substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions are:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) affected by other error of law;
- (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

S.C.Code Ann. 1-23-380.

The appellate court “will correct the decision of the ALC if it is affected by an error of law, S.C.Code Ann. § 1–23–380(5)(d) (Supp.2010), and questions of law are reviewed de novo.” S.C. Dep’t of Revenue v. Blue Moon of Newberry, Inc., 397 S.C. 256, 260, 725 S.E.2d 480, 483 (2012), reh'g denied (May 4, 2012) (citing Town of Summerville v. City of N. Charleston, 378 S.C. 107, 110, 662 S.E.2d 40, 41 (2008)). When the evidence gives rise to but one reasonable inference the question becomes one of law for the courts to decide. Kinsey v. Champion Am. Serv. Ctr., 268 S.C. 177, 181, 232 S.E.2d 720, 722 (1977); Sharpe v. Case Produce Co., 329 S.C. 534, 545, 495 S.E.2d 790, 795 (Ct.App.1997) (rev'd on other grounds). Under this standard, a reviewing court may reverse or modify an agency decision based on errors of law. Turner v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Env’tl. Control, 377 S.C. 540, 544, 661 S.E.2d 118, 120 (Ct.App.2008).

ARGUMENT

Summary of Argument

The 2014 stormwater permit (SCR10Q459) and coastal zone consistency certification (CZC-12-0149) (collectively “2014 Permit and Certification”) issued by the Department to the Church authorizing land-disturbing activity are in violation of a Consent Order of Settlement and Dismissal (“Consent Order”) filed with the Administrative Law Court (ALC) in 2001. The 2001 Consent Order placed restrictions on land-disturbing activity on the Church property and specifically required that “the wetland preserved by this Consent Order shall remain in its natural state.” (R. p. 341). The DHEC authorizations explicitly allows alteration of those wetlands required to be preserved. (R. pp. 84-89, 384-87, 390-98, 402-17).

The ALC acknowledged that the Consent Order is a valid and enforceable document, but failed to apply and enforce it to the proposed land-disturbing activities on the same property, involving the same parties and the same wetlands which were protected under that Order. While the ALC correctly recited principles of contract law, it failed to apply those standards. More particularly, the ALC failed to find the language of the Consent Order clear and unambiguous; it looked to parties’ intent absent a finding of ambiguity in the language of the Consent Order itself; it failed to read the Consent Order as whole and instead selectively construed its provisions in favor of a temporal limitation on the agreement; it failed to read clear and unambiguous language of the Consent Order as such; it ignored certain provisions of the Consent Order altogether; and it imparted meaning to the Consent Order that is simply not expressed in the plain language.

The ALC failed to apply basic principles of contract law; failed to apply the plain, unambiguous terms of the Consent Order; and failed to enforce an Order of its own court. Due to the ALC's fundamental misapplication of these basic rules, it incorrectly concluded that the Consent Order was inapplicable to and unenforceable against the 2014 Permit and Certification.

I. FACTUAL OVERVIEW OF THE CASE

Historical Context

Back in 2000, the Church (formerly known as the Pawleys Island Baptist Church), applied for permits in connection with a plan to expand its existing facilities. (R. pp. 326-27) (R. p. 288, line 2–p. 289, line 23) (R. p. 291, lines 19-24). The Church's expansion project included land-disturbing activity that would impact onsite wetlands, specifically the filling and excavation of 0.30 acres of freshwater wetlands. (R. pp. 326-27) (R. p. 292, line 5–p. 293, line 3). Thus, the Church was required to obtain a stormwater permit³ and associated coastal zone consistency certification⁴ from the Department, as well as federal authorization from the Army Corps of Engineers, to carry out the land-disturbing activity.

³

The Department has state permitting authority under the NPDES Program to require stormwater permit coverage for all land-disturbing activities to ensure proper stormwater management and controls. S.C.Code Ann. 48-14-10, et seq.; S.C.Code Ann.Reg. 72-300, et seq.

⁴

The Department must certify all state and federal projects in the coastal zone for consistency with the Coastal Management Program (CMP) before such permit can issue. S.C.Code Ann. 48-39-80.

On October 2, 2000, the Department issued a stormwater permit and coastal zone consistency certification, referenced as Permit #22-00-06-03 (the “2000 Permit and Certification”), to the Church authorizing land-disturbing activity for expansion of its facilities. (R. pp. 328-31). And on October 9, 2000, the Department also certified the portion of the project in connection with the federal authorization to fill the onsite wetlands, referenced as P/N 2000-1D-262-C. (R. pp. 332-39).

The Abels filed a request for a contested case hearing before the ALC seeking review of the 2000 Permit and Certification, which was given Docket Number 00-ALJ-07-0626-CC. The parties had numerous settlement discussions that eventually resulted in the Consent Order. The Abels, Mr. Mims, the Church and the Department are all parties to the Consent Order which was issued by Judge C. Dukes Scott on January 8, 2001. (R. p. 343).

According to the Consent Order: “The parties have met, discussed, negotiated, and resolved their differences, and have reached a settlement which they desire to have incorporated into this order.” (R. p. 340). This settlement was “made a part of th[e] final order of the Administrative Law Judge Division” and “FURTHER ORDERED that th[e] matter shall be DISMISSED, with prejudice, **except that the parties shall retain full rights to enforce the agreements stated herein.**” (R. p. 343) (emphasis added). Therefore, under the terms of the Consent Order, the parties agreed to the dismissal of the challenge in exchange for certain binding concessions with regard to land-disturbing activity on the Church property.

The wetlands on the Church property, which are adjacent to an important salt marsh creek in Pawleys Island, formed a key issue in the Abels’ challenge giving rise to the Consent

Order.⁵ Accordingly, the inclusion of specific protections for the onsite wetlands in the Consent Order played a significant role in facilitating an agreement between the parties. (R. p. 419 (“As with many compromises, the decision to fill in the wetlands left us (and the church as well, we suspect) with a bittersweet feeling. We were saddened at the loss of half of the wetlands, but were comforted that the remaining half would continue to exist.”)). With restrictions on land-disturbing activity and protections for the wetlands secured under the Consent Order, the Abels agreed to dismiss their challenge to the 2000 Permit and Certification. In turn, the Church was able to move forward with its 2000 project as amended by the Consent Order.

The Consent Order set forth the parameters within which land-disturbing activity could occur on the Church property in two ways. First, it amended the permissible land-disturbing activity associated with the 2000 Permit and Certification. (R. p. 342 (“It is further ordered that the DHEC/OCRM permit and certification shall be, and same hereby are, amended in accordance with this agreement and order.”)). Second, it generally restricted land-disturbing activity on the Church property and protected the onsite wetlands by proscribing any disturbance beyond that authorized. (R. p. 341 (“[T]he wetland preserved by this Consent Order shall remain in its natural state.”)).

5

(R. pp. 418-19 (“Of primary concern was the Church’s proposal to fill in 0.3 acres of jurisdictional wetlands onsite. . . . Those wetlands were a source of joy to us. . . . [T]he onsite wetlands have a direct surface and hydrological connection to Pawleys Creek, a salt water creek in the Pawleys Island community. Currently Pawleys Island Creek is a eutrophic system owing to polluted groundwater and surface water runoff from the watershed. Wetlands mitigate nutrients and sediment runoff and contribute to biodiversity of the creek and surrounding area.”)) (R. p. 293, lines 17-23).

In pertinent part, the Consent Order modified the Church's expansion project, including that the construction of "the storm water pond and other improvement at the site shall be amended so that **approximately one-half (50%) of the wetland area on the site shall be preserved.**" (R. p. 341) (emphasis added). Further, it established "[T]he Church **agrees that the wetland preserved by this Consent Order shall remain in its natural state.**" (R. p. 341) (emphasis added).

Consistent with the requisite protection of the remaining onsite wetlands, the Consent Order required all agents, employees, contractors, and others undertaking land-disturbing activity on the Church property "to continue to explore additional design changes . . . which will allow **possible additional expansion of the wetland area to be preserved**" and "to employ all available Best Management Practices **to prevent harm to the wetland beyond that authorized** by this agreement and by the permit and certification as hereby amended." (R. p. 341) (emphases added). Additionally, the Church was required to maintain a "30' Noise/Visual Buffer" of native vegetation to alleviate some of the impacts associated with the land-disturbing activity on its property, but for the portion of this buffer overlapping with the onsite wetlands it was to allow those areas to "**remain in their natural state.**" (R. pp. 341-42) (emphasis added). And, in the event that unauthorized "**additional harm to the wetland occurs despite best efforts, the church will restore or mitigate any such harm.**" (R. p. 341) (emphasis added).

Accordingly, the Consent Order placed restrictions on land-disturbing activity on the Church property and protections on the remaining onsite wetlands. While it amended specific land-disturbing activity associated with the 2000 Permit and Certification, the

language of the Consent Order purposefully extends beyond that project to ensure that the wetlands are protected.

The terms of the Consent Order as a whole are clear, they provide:

1. The designs for the storm water pond and other improvements at the site shall be amended so that **approximately one-half (50%) of the wetland area on the site shall be preserved**. The storm water pond shall be altered to be located and configured as depicted in the drawing attached hereto as Exhibit A. The Church shall also amend its plans for the proposed structure shown on Exhibit A as “Proposed Future Building Phase II” so that **no portion of this structure will encroach upon the area of the wetland**.
2. The Church agrees that it will instruct its engineers, architects, contractors and others working on the Church improvement project and storm water management project, to **continue to explore additional design changes**, where feasible from a time and cost perspective, **which will allow possible additional expansion of the wetland area to be preserved**.
3. **The Church agrees that the wetland preserved by this Consent Order shall remain in its natural state.**
4. In constructing the storm water system and church improvements, the Church shall instruct its engineers, architects, contractors and others working on its behalf to employ all available Best Management Practices to **prevent harm to the wetland beyond that authorized by this agreement** and by the permit and certification as hereby amended. **In the event such additional harm to the wetland occurs despite best efforts, the church will restore or mitigate any such harm.**
5. Within the area designated on Exhibit A as the “30' Noise/Visual Buffer,” the Church shall maintain a vegetated buffer of native, evergreen shrubbery and trees, with a density of at least one evergreen tree and one shrub every ten (10) feet; the trees and shrubs will be leyland cypress and wax myrtles and similar species, and at planting will be at least six (6) feet in height with fifty percent (50%) of the trees at least ten (10) feet in height; provided however, that **the portions of the vegetated buffer in wetland areas** or in wooded areas not affected by development on the property, **will remain in their natural state.**

(R. pp. 341-42) (emphases added).⁶

⁶

The sixth and seventh clauses address concerns regarding the location of basketball and

The Consent Order then concludes:

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the agreements stated hereinabove shall be, and same hereby is, made a **part of this final order of the Administrative Law Judge Division.**

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the DHEC/OCRM permit and certification shall be, and same hereby are, amended in accordance with this agreement or order.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that this matter shall be DISMISSED, with prejudice, except that **the parties shall retain full rights to enforce the agreements stated herein.**

(R. p. 342) (emphases added).

Yet, in June 2012, the Church applied for permits in connection with a plan for redevelopment of its existing facilities that was inconsistent with the Consent Order. The redevelopment project included land-disturbing activity, thus the Church again sought a stormwater permit and associated coastal zone consistency certification from the Department.

(R. pp. 345-48, 350-54). In particular, the Church proposed the construction of additional buildings and associated infrastructure and the reconfiguration and expansion of the existing stormwater pond on its property. According to the permit application and associated drawings, the reconfiguration and expansion of the stormwater pond will result in alteration or other disturbance to the remaining wetlands on the Church property, which are protected by the Consent Order. (R. pp. 350-54 (reflecting impacts to 0.17 acres of wetlands)) (R. p. 89 (depicting the re-design for the stormwater pond into the wetlands)) (R. pp. 85, 88

volleyball fields and the lighting on the Church property. (R. p. 342). The eighth clause allows the Church to begin undertaking land-disturbing activity “not inconsistent with this agreement and order” upon its execution. (R. p. 342). And in the ninth clause, the parties agreed to cooperate in the event any further amendments are needed “to carry out the provisions of this agreement and order.” (R. p. 342).

(stating the remaining “one-half (50%) of the wetland area on the site shall be preserved.”))
(R. pp. 384-87) (R. p. 187, line 5–p. 189, line 22).

In other words, the Church has sought authorization to impact the remaining half of the onsite wetlands that were explicitly set aside and protected by the Consent Order.

Shortly after initiating review of the Church’s redevelopment project, the Department became aware of the Consent Order and determined that there was a conflict between the land-disturbing activity proposed and the terms of that agreement and order. (R. p. 241, lines 10-21) (R. p. 246, line 16–p. 248, line 8) (R. p. 250, line 18–p. 251, line 25) (R. pp. 384-86). In fact, the Department drafted a coastal zone consistency document dated July 31, 2012 stating that it reviewed the Church’s redevelopment project and “has determined that the project is **Inconsistent** based upon a Consent Order of Settlement and Dismissal” between the Abels, Mr. Mims, the Department, and the Church filed with the ALC on January 8, 2001. (R. pp. 384-85). In support of its determination of inconsistency, the Department cited to the provisions of the Consent Order requiring “that approximately one-half (50%) of the wetland area on site shall be preserved” and that “[t]he Church agrees that the wetland preserved by this Consent Order shall remain in its natural state.” (R. p. 384).

The Department also notified the Church about the conflict between its redevelopment project and the Consent Order which “indicate[d] that the wetlands remaining on-site shall be preserved.” (R. p. 386) (R. p. 250, line 18–p. 252, line 25) (R. p. 313, line 15–p. 318, line 10) (R. p. 369, line 8–p. 370, line 20). Therefore, early on in the permitting process for the Church’s redevelopment project, both the Department and the Church were aware of the Consent Order and that the project could not move forward unless either the

project or the agreement itself was modified. By letter dated October 31, 2012, the Department informed the Church that its redevelopment project was on hold until further notice and memorialized the nature of the conflict between the project and the Consent Order:

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