THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

Appeal from the Administrative Law Court
Shirley C. Robinson, Administrative Law Judge

RECEIVED

Trial Court Case No. 2014ALJ070282CC
Appellate Case No. 2015-000602

DEC 08 2015

SC Court of Appeals

Dan Abel and Mary Abel,

Appellants,

v.

South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental
Control and Pawleys Island Community Church,

Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Deborah Harrison Sheffield, SC Bar # 2757
Law Office of Deborah Harrison Sheffield, P.A.
117 Brook Valley Road
Columbia, South Carolina 29224
(803) 419-7837 // (803) 419-3519 FAX

Daniel W. Stacy, Jr., SC Bar # 8816
Oxner & Stacy, P.A.
90 Wall Street, Unit B

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

⁸ The Respondents maintain that neither the 2014 stormwater permit nor the CZC actually authorize the alteration of wetlands. See CZC at ROA 25 - “This Coastal Zone Consistency did not include a review and authorization for any direct or indirect wetland impacts to freshwater wetlands or critical area. Any impacts to Critical Areas as determined by SCDHEC-OCRM, and/or freshwater wetlands, as determined by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers must be authorized by the appropriate agency.” See Permit at ROA 22-23 - “You are responsible for obtaining any other federal, state, or local permit that may be required for this project. In particular, any permits through the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers for the placement of fill materials in the Waters of the United States.”

preserved indefinitely, the remaining eight clauses show the temporal applicability of the Consent Order was limited.” [ROA 7; Order, p. 7 (citations omitted).]

First, the Court noted that the opening paragraph of the Consent Order provides specificity as to the 2000 permit and CZC and the associated construction project:

This proceeding arises out of the application of the Pawleys Island Baptist Church, a South Carolina Not-for-Profit Corporation, ... for a state storm water permit for the construction of a new sanctuary and other improvements of its property

The Appellants argue that the ALJ improperly considered this language. However, the underlying application/permitting process as recited in the Consent Order constitutes part of the document for consideration of the parties intent,⁹ *See* M & M Grp., Inc. v. Holmes, 379 S.C. 468, 475-76, 666 S.E.2d 262, 266 (Ct. App. 2008)(intent may be found in whereas clause describing background leading to contract)(citing Superior Auto. Ins. Co. v. Maners, 261 S.C. 257, 199 S.E.2d 719 (1973) (holding the intention of an instrument is determined by its language, regardless of whether such language is in a whereas clause); Bruce v. Blalock, 241 S.C. 155, 161, 127 S.E.2d 439, 442 (1962) (“The subject matter of the contract and the purpose of its exception are material to the ascertainment of the intention of the parties and the meaning of the terms they use.”).

⁹ It also merits consideration of the fact – as a matter of law – that the ALJ’s jurisdiction in 2001 was limited to review of the 2000 permit/CZC issued by DHEC/OCRM. It is arguable that the ALJ did not have jurisdiction to approve and order a perpetual restrictive contractual obligation outside of its jurisdiction over the subject matter before it. *See cf.* SGM-Moonglo, Inc. v. S. Carolina Dep’t of Revenue, 378 S.C. 293, 295, 662 S.E.2d 487, 488 (Ct. App. 2008) (“An administrative agency has only the powers conferred on it by law and must act within the authority created for that purpose. Pursuant to section 61–4–520 of the South Carolina Code (Supp.2006), the ALC must determine whether a proposed location is proper and suitable prior to granting an off-premises beer and wine permit. Restrictions in the chain of title of a proposed location, however, are not a legitimate concern of the ALC in determining whether the location is suitable.”)

Thus, contrary to the Appellants' argument, the ALJ properly considered the context and background of the underlying administrative proceedings as recited in the opening paragraph, and correctly found that: "This language indicates the Consent Order was executed to address two *specific applications* (the 2000 Permit and CZC) and related to a *specific construction project...*" [ROA 7; Order, p. 7 (emphasis in original).]

The Court also considered the other clauses, finding that the specific restraint on wetlands in clause 1 was clearly within the context of the designs and plans for the specific construction project under review:

1. The designs for the storm water pond and other improvements at the site shall be amended so that approximately one-half (50%) of the wetland area on the site shall be preserved. The storm water pond shall be altered to be located and configured as depicted in the drawing attached hereto as Exhibit A. The Church shall also amend its plans for the proposed structure shown on Exhibit A as "PROPOSED FUTURE BUILDING PHASE II" so that no portion of this structure will encroach upon the area of the wetland.

Again, the Court properly concluded that: "This language describes specific designs for the Church's 2001 construction project for which the Church requested a specific stormwater permit and CZC." [ROA 7; Order, p. 7.] Likewise, the Court found that the language in clauses 2 and 4 reference specific improvements and designs associated with the 2001 construction project. Similarly, clauses 5, 6 and 7 provide for restrictive buffers and setbacks to the proposed plans, and clause 9 provides for amendments to the 2000 permits. Moreover, clause 8 authorizes the Church to begin construction on the new sanctuary project and other improvements not inconsistent with the agreement. Considering all the language of the entire Consent Order of Settlement and Dismissal, the ALJ reached the correct conclusion that the clear and unambiguous intent of the parties

was to address the 2000 permit and CZC, and not to apply to any new, future construction projects.

Attempting to enforce the 2001 Consent Order in the new application/NOI, the Appellants argue that the Consent Order arose from a prior challenge to the same type of authorization and for the same type of activity on the same property. They also argue that the provisions for enforcement -- “the parties shall retain full rights to enforce the agreements stated herein” -- empowers and requires the ALJ to enforce the 2001 Consent Order in this 2012-14 permitting process. However, the 2000 permit/CZC was approved based on a specific and distinct construction project. The clear intent in reserving enforcement rights after dismissal of the administrative appeal was to allow the parties to come back before the ALC to compel compliance with the terms of the 2001 Consent Order in connection with the 2000 permit/CZC on that construction project which was completed years ago.

The Respondents would submit that in addition, limiting the duration of the Consent Order of Settlement and Dismissal to the time frame of the associated construction project is consistent with and supported by the 2000 permit and CZC which were the subject of the administrative appeal in which the Consent Order was entered.¹⁰ The Permit and CZC, dated October 2, 2000, specifically provide that the approval was to

¹⁰ The permit/CZC constitute part of the Consent Order. *Cf. Dibble v. Sumter Ice & Fuel Co.*, 283 S.C. 278, 282, 322 S.E.2d 674, 677 (Ct. App. 1984)(“An order should be construed within the context of the proceeding in which it is rendered.”); *Williams v. Gov't Employees Ins. Co. (GEICO)*, 409 S.C. 586, 596-97, 762 S.E.2d 705, 711 (2014) (by reference in the contract, the application and declarations constituted part of the entire insurance policy).

remain valid for five (5) years, and the approval was only applicable for the plans submitted at that time. [ROA 328; Ex.5 – Abels’ Motion for Summary Judgment, p. 2.]

B. The 2001 Consent Order does not create a perpetual restriction enforceable in a new administrative process for a new stormwater permit and CZC for a separate and distinct construction project.

The ALJ’s consideration and construction of clause 3 and rejection of the Appellants’ contention that it creates a perpetual restriction is supported by the Court’s opinion in S.C. Dep’t of Natural Res. v. Town of McClellanville, supra. In that case, the Court considered the interpretation of a deed restriction which included language that a parking area and boat ramp “shall remain accessible to and remain available for use by the public.” 550 S.E.2d at 301. When the grantee/Town enacted a boat ramp fee, the grantor/DNR sought an injunction on the ground that the boat ramp fee violated the restrictive covenant contained in the deed. The Court held: “Although the word ‘remain’ read alone might be considered ambiguous, the covenant as a whole is not. Nothing in the plain language of the deed prohibits the town from requiring a permit or charging a fee to use the facilities.” *Id.* at 303. Similarly, in this case, the use of the term “remain” in clause 3 -- standing alone, out of context with no clear, express language of perpetual duration -- does not forever restrict the Church from seeking a new stormwater permit or CZC for new future construction.

As discussed, the ALJ’s ruling is fully supported by the language of the Consent Order of Settlement and Dismissal, and it is also consistent with established precedent regarding the duration of contracts in general and restrictive covenants which disfavors perpetual provisions. “Historically, perpetual contracts have not been favored in South Carolina and are generally upheld only where the perpetual nature of the agreement is an

express term of the contract.” Carolina Cable Network v. Alert Cable TV, Inc., 316 S.C. 98, 447 S.E.2d 199, 200 (1994).

The Appellants maintain that there is no time limit on the wetland restrictions in clause 3. In fact the Appellants describe it as “devoid of temporal limitation.”¹¹ However, the absence of any duration does not constitute “forever,” and there is no express language evidencing intent that the restriction is perpetual. As long ago stated by the Court in Childs v. City of Columbia, 87 S.C. 566, 70 S.E. 296, 298 (1911), “[w]here the parties to a contract express no period for its duration, and no definite time can be implied from the nature of the contract or from the circumstances surrounding them, it would be unreasonable to impute to the parties an intention to make a contract binding themselves perpetually.” *See also* Dobyns v. South Carolina Dept. of Parks, Recreation and Tourism, 325 S.C. 97, 480 S.E.2d 81, 83 n. 5 (1997).

In this case the Appellants argue,¹² and the ALJ so held, that the provisions of the Consent Order are not restrictive covenants. [See discussion *infra* on standing issue.] However, the distinction is inapposite to this issue because a restrictive covenant is – at its core – contractual in nature. To the extent that restrictive covenants are contractual provisions that restrict the free use of land by its owner and while restrictive covenants run with the land which entails certain special aspects of property law, the provisions in the Consent Order of Settlement and Dismissal are no different in that the same rules of construction apply. Palmetto Dunes Resort, Div. of Greenwood Dev. Corp. v. Brown, 287 S.C. 1, 6, 336 S.E.2d 15, 18 (Ct. App. 1985) (“Restrictive covenants are contractual

¹¹ See Appellants’ Brief, p. 34.

¹² “Respondents’ reliance on property law is misplaced and has no bearing on the real issues in this case which derive from contract law....” [Appellants’ Brief, p. 19 n.7.]

in nature,” so that the paramount rule of construction is to ascertain and give effect to the intent of the parties as determined from the whole document.); *see also* Queen’s Grant II Horizontal Property Regime v. Greenwood, 368 S.C. 342, 628 S.E.2d 902, 913 (2006)(“restrictive covenants affecting real property cannot be properly and fully understood without resort to property law”):

The well-settled rules applied to contractual restrictive covenants hold that “a restriction on the use of the property must be created in express terms or by plain and unmistakable implication, and all such restrictions are to be strictly construed, with all doubts resolved in favor of the free use of property.” Hardy v. Aiken, 369 S.C. 160, 166, 631 S.E.2d 539, 542 (2006) (quoting Hamilton v. CCM, Inc., 274 S.C. 152, 157, 263 S.E.2d 378, 380 (1980)). Particularly applicable here is the corollary rule that: “The Court is to construe any ambiguity in favor of limited duration and against restricting property.” *Id.* *See also* 3 Tiffany Real Prop. § 870 (3d ed.)(“in the absence of any provision that it shall be perpetual or placing any limitation upon it, it will usually be implied that its duration is such as is reasonable under the circumstances of the case”); Gardner v. Maffitt, 335 Mo. 959, 965, 74 S.W.2d 604, 607 (1934)(“Where the time during which a restrictive covenant is to endure has not been expressly limited by the parties, it should be implied that some limitation was intended and that it was such as the nature of the case would indicate as reasonable.”); Union Stock Yards Co. v. Nashville Packing Co., 140 F. 701, 705 (6th Cir. 1905).

If the parties had intended the restrictions on land use in the Consent Order of Settlement and Dismissal to apply in the future forever, the intent would have been expressed in clear language in the document, and there would have been provisions for

accomplishing the necessary recording in the chain of title to effectuate a perpetual restriction to run with the land. Here, the Consent Order is, by its unambiguous terms, an agreement in an administrative permitting process related to a specific permit/CZC for a specific construction project, and the ALJ correctly held that it does not apply to the new 2014 permit/CZC for the new construction project.

C. *The ALJ did not consider extrinsic, parole evidence to prove the parties' intent.*

Contrary to the Appellants' contention,¹³ the ALJ never looked beyond the language of the Consent Order nor considered extrinsic evidence. While the Appellant Dan Abel submitted an affidavit [ROA 418] attesting to his understanding and intent that the restrictions would continue in perpetuity, the ALJ discussed the affidavit and properly discounted that extrinsic, parole evidence of Mr. Abel's personal, subjective intent because the intent of the parties is clear and unambiguous from all the language of the Consent Order as a whole. The Court also properly rejected the Appellants' attempt to create ambiguity from the DHEC Staff's preliminary concern/inquiry about the applicability of the 2001 Consent Order when reviewing the 2012 NOI and CZC application. For similar reasons, ambiguity cannot be created by the Church's attempt to modify the old 2001 Consent Order to meet any concerns by the Mims, as the remaining owners of adjoining property. *See cf. Hayne Fed. Credit Union v. Bailey*, 327 S.C. 242, 251, 489 S.E.2d 472, 477 (1997) (While judicial estoppel may preclude a party from adopting a position in conflict with one earlier taken in the same or related litigation, it applies only to inconsistent statements of fact, not to conclusions of law or assertions of legal theories.); *Hall v. Palmetto Enterprises II, Inc., of Clinton*, 282 S.C. 87, 92, 317

¹³ See Appellants' Brief, p. 23.

S.E.2d 140, 143 (Ct. App. 1984) (“an offer to compromise the controversy involved in a litigation is generally not admissible as an admission”).

II. The dismissal can be sustained on the additional ground that the Appellants have no standing to challenge the permits because they no longer own property next to the Church property.

The Respondents argued to the ALJ that if the 2001 Consent Order is interpreted to impose permanent restriction on the Church’s land, then the Abels lack standing to enforce such a restriction because they sold their property in 2007, and no longer own adjoining land. [See ROA 129; Deed – Ex. C – Respondents’ Memorandum in Support of Motion to Dismiss.] In support of their argument the Respondents cited to McLeod v. Baptiste, 315 S.C. 246, 247, 433 S.E.2d 834, 835 (1993), wherein the Court held that a grantor that created a restrictive covenant lacked standing to enforce the covenant when it no longer owned any real property which would benefit from the covenant's enforcement. Although they still live in the area, they are now a remote party and will not benefit from the covenant’s enforcement. The ALJ rejected the standing argument, holding that: “The Consent Order does not constitute a restrictive covenant and, as such, principles of standing under restrictive covenant real property law do not apply in this case.” [ROA 9; Order, p. 9.]

The Respondents maintain that the lack of standing is a sufficient additional ground to sustain the dismissal because the core of the Appellants’ argument invokes the law governing restrictive covenants. The Appellants steadfastly contend that clause 3 constitutes a perpetual restriction on the Church property yet insist that it is not a restrictive covenant. As discussed above, clause 3 is a perpetual restriction on the use of real property even though it is not found in a deed, it does not bind heirs, assigns and

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